

# Research Discussion Paper

# Chinese Urban Residential Construction to 2040

Leon Berkelmans and Hao Wang

RDP 2012-04

The Discussion Paper series is intended to make the results of the current economic research within the Reserve Bank available to other economists. Its aim is to present preliminary results of research so as to encourage discussion and comment. Views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the Reserve Bank. Use of any results from this paper should clearly attribute the work to the authors and not to the Reserve Bank of Australia.

The contents of this publication shall not be reproduced, sold or distributed without the prior consent of the Reserve Bank of Australia.

ISSN 1320-7229 (Print)

ISSN 1448-5109 (Online)

# **Chinese Urban Residential Construction to 2040**

Leon Berkelmans and Hao Wang

Research Discussion Paper 2012-04

September 2012

Economic Group Reserve Bank of Australia

The authors thank colleagues for their input, especially Anthony Rush who was integral to the initial stages of this project, and Stephen Elias for alerting us to the Taiwanese data. Danan Gu and Alan Heston were very helpful when we had queries about the World Urbanization Prospects and Penn World Tables databases. The views in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Reserve Bank of Australia. The authors are solely responsible for any errors.

Authors: berkelmansl and wangh at domain rba.gov.au

Media Office: rbainfo@rba.gov.au

# Abstract

This paper projects Chinese urban residential construction out to 2040. The paper argues that the extraordinary growth of recent years will not continue, but that construction will stabilise at a high level. This augurs well for steel demand, especially as steel intensity is expected to increase. These projections are subject to upside and downside risks, which are discussed. In addition, this paper argues that official figures understate the extent of urban residential construction.

JEL Classification Numbers: E22, R31 Keywords: China, residential construction

# **Table of Contents**

1.	Introduction			
2.	Past Urban Residential Construction			
3.	Methodology and Components			
	3.1	Methodology	5	
	3.2	Urban Population	5	
	3.3	Floor Space per Capita	9	
	3.4	Demolitions	13	
	3.5	Backcast Testing the Validity of Our Approach	14	
4.	Projections			
	4.1	Steel	16	
	4.2	Implications for the Structure of the Economy	18	
5.	Sensitivity Analysis			
	5.1	Urbanisation Assumptions	20	
	5.2	Floor Space per Capita Assumptions	22	
	5.3	GDP Growth Assumptions	23	
6.	Conc	lusion	24	
App	endix A	: Map of Hailing County, Taizhou Prefecture, Jiangsu Province	26	
App	endix B	: Steel Use under Alternative Assumptions	27	
Refe	rences		29	

# **Chinese Urban Residential Construction to 2040**

## Leon Berkelmans and Hao Wang

# 1. Introduction

In 2011, 1.9 billion square metres of residential floor space was built in China.<sup>1</sup> This volume is more floor space than the entire residential building stock in Australia. The scale of construction is necessary, in part, to house the 20 million annual increase in the urban population. Residential construction is a key driver of Chinese economic growth and, given its use of steel, construction is an important determinant of the demand for iron ore, which is one of Australia's most significant exports.

This paper assesses the medium-term prospects for the Chinese urban residential construction boom, using projections of urbanisation rates, building size and construction quality. Chinese urban residential construction is expected to remain at elevated levels for the next couple of decades, but growth will undoubtedly slow. As the urbanisation process winds down and as improvements in building quality become more incremental, construction is expected to peak in 2017 and fall back below current levels some time around 2030.

This projection is dependent upon a number of assumptions, and we consider the sensitivity of our projections to these assumptions. If urbanisation advances at a slower pace than envisaged, then the peak of residential construction could be close to hand. However, there are upside risks as well. The evolution of floor space per capita is quite uncertain; should this advance at a faster pace than the relatively conservative view in the baseline scenario, the high-growth phase of Chinese residential construction could continue for several more years.

Fundamentally, the construction boom is the result of extraordinary economic growth and urbanisation, which are intertwined in complex ways (Spence, Annez and Buckley 2008). Other countries, for example Korea, have experienced similar,

<sup>1</sup> Unless otherwise specified, data in this paper are drawn from CEIC. The 2011 figure includes all construction in rural and urban areas, whereas the most commonly cited figures refer to 'commodity buildings' – which can loosely be defined as housing for sale in the private market – in urban areas.

or even more rapid, increases in the proportion of residents living in urban areas. Yet no country can compare to China in terms of the sheer scale of its urbanisation. China's urbanisation process has other distinct features. The *hukou* system, which determines individuals' residency status and welfare entitlements, limits labour mobility to a degree that could be responsible for a large gap in wages between urban and rural areas (Henderson 2009). There is also evidence suggesting that Chinese cities are undersized compared to some optimal level, suggesting scope for further expansion in city sizes (Fujita *et al* 2004; Au and Henderson 2006). This paper does not take account of these features explicitly in the analysis, but they are likely to have only minor implications relative to the influence of China's overall growth.

Construction requires steel, which in turn requires iron ore, of which Australia is a significant producer. We estimate that residential construction uses about 14 per cent of China's crude steel output. More intense use of steel, due to taller buildings and other amenities such as underground car parks, means that steel use by residential construction will grow at a faster rate than the volume of floor space built. Indeed, we project that steel used in residential construction will peak around 2024, at a level that is 30 per cent higher than in 2011.

This paper also touches on the structure of the Chinese economy and its evolution. As is well known, Chinese nominal investment as a share of GDP is high. We estimate that the residential construction share of GDP has risen from 5½ per cent in 2004 to 9 per cent in 2011. The extent of this increase is somewhat higher than suggested by the volume of floor space constructed. Quality improvements and higher materials prices could account for this.

The paper progresses as follows. Section 2 discusses past residential construction, and argues that official data understate true urban residential construction. Section 3 outlines the methodology used for our projections, and Section 4 presents those projections. Section 5 discusses the sensitivity analysis and Section 6 concludes.

# 2. Past Urban Residential Construction

According to official figures, urban residential construction first overtook rural residential construction in 2011 (Figure 1). However, it seems odd that urban construction did not exceed rural construction much earlier than the official

statistics suggest. After all, the Chinese urbanisation rate is over 50 per cent, the urban population of China has been increasing by over 2 per cent per year and the rural population has been declining since 1995. We contend that much of the official estimate of rural construction is occurring on land classified as rural during the construction phase that is then reclassified as urban after a critical mass of people move in.



Source: National Bureau of Statistics of China

Other data support this assertion. In 1990, less than one-third of all rural floor space completed had a steel-reinforced concrete structure, but that share has more than doubled over the past 20 years. Since reinforced concrete structures are typically found in high density apartments and are not required for low-rise buildings, it is not likely that this represents construction in a true rural environment. We therefore derive a measure of urban construction that assumes all rural reinforced concrete residential floor space is *de facto* urban construction (Figure 2).<sup>2</sup> This measure overtook estimated rural construction – the officially classified rural construction that did not consist of a reinforced concrete structure – in 1993, which seems more plausible. The estimated measure of urban residential

<sup>2</sup> This estimate is provided only up to 2010, when the most recent data on the type of rural construction are available.

construction has grown by an average of 7 per cent per year since 1990 and by 9 per cent per year since 2006. Section 3.5 shows that this profile is consistent with published housing stock data.



Note: (a) Urban floor space completed plus rural floor space completed with construction that uses a 'reinforced concrete structure'; rural is total minus estimated urban Sources: National Bureau of Statistics of China; authors' calculations

Is this new measure consistent with land classification practices in China? The National Bureau of Statistics of China (NBS) now provides the land classification of all sub-districts in China – areas that could range from an urban block to a small rural village and its hinterland. We studied Hailing County in Jiangsu Province in detail, which has a population of half a million people. The satellite image in Appendix A identifies urban areas in yellow, and rural areas in red. The boundaries are approximate and it is difficult to classify large segments of land. Nonetheless, the exercise shows that there are areas classified as rural that are close to the built-up fringe, so it seems plausible that construction in areas of this kind could explain the large amount of construction that is classified as urban once population levels reached some threshold. Moreover, we contend that when new cities are built over razed rural villages, the construction is also classified as rural in the official statistics until the city is inhabited.

# 3. Methodology and Components

To better understand the prospects for urban residential construction, this section of the paper attempts to model the construction process.

## 3.1 Methodology

To begin, we note that urban construction is the change in the stock of urban residential floor space plus demolitions:<sup>3</sup>

$$Construction_{t} = Floor Space Stock_{t} - Floor Space Stock_{t-1} + Demolitions_{t}$$
(1)

The stock of urban floor space is the product of urban residential floor space per capita and urban population:

Floor Space 
$$Stock_t = Urban Population_t \times Floor Space per Capita_t$$
 (2)

Therefore, the path of construction is determined by the following factors:

- urban population;
- floor space per capita; and
- demolitions.

Each of these factors is considered below.

### 3.2 Urban Population

The Chinese urbanisation rate has been rising rapidly over the past two decades and we expect it to continue to do so for some time (Figure 3). In 1990, just over one quarter of the Chinese population lived in urban areas, today over a half do. Large flows of rural immigrants to urban areas and large scale land

<sup>3</sup> Demolitions are broadly defined as any floor space that is destroyed, whether it be through intent or neglect.

reclassification have driven this trend (Woeztel *et al* 2009; Henderson 2011). Our urban population projections are calculated using a similar methodology to the United Nations' (UN) World Urbanization Prospects and, as Figure 3 shows, the the projections are close to the UN's.<sup>4</sup> We project an urbanisation rate of almost 70 per cent by 2030 and around 73 per cent by 2040.

Our projected path is not unprecedented. Figure 4 shows the urbanisation path followed by Korea, Japan and China. All paths are centred at the point where the urbanisation rate reached 50 per cent, the date of which is indicated in parentheses for each country. Korea experienced an even more rapid urbanisation than we are projecting for China. Japan's was slower, but not significantly so; 10 years after reaching 50 per cent, Japan's urbanisation rate stood at 58 per cent, while we are projecting that China's urbanisation rate will reach 62 per cent at a similar point. Moreover, Japan's urbanisation rate was increasing at a much slower pace than China's as it approached 50 per cent.

Aside from the UN, other institutions have also made projections of China's urbanisation rate for 2030. Table 1 shows some of these estimates, which vary substantially, and the assumptions behind the differences are not entirely clear. Our projections are in line with the median projection.

<sup>4</sup> World Urbanization Prospects is available at http://esa.un.org/unpd/wup/index.htm. Like the UN, we project the ratio of the urban to rural population using the weighted sum of two growth rates. The first growth rate is the growth of the ratio of the urban to rural population over the recent past ( $rur_{past}$ ). The second growth rate is a 'hypothetical' growth rate ( $hrur_t$ ) calculated on the basis of cross-country regressions in United Nations (2012) and follows  $hrur_t = 0.033 - 0.025PU_t$ , where PU is the proportion of the urban population in the total. The UN keeps hrur constant at its current value, i.e.  $hrur_t = hrur_{2011}$  for t > 2011, whereas we allow  $hrur_t$  to change over time with the urbanisation rate. The weighted average of the growth rate follows  $rur_t = W_t rur_{past} + (1 - W_t)hrur_t$  where  $W_t = 1$  for the first year of the projection.  $W_t$  then declines linearly by 0.04 each year until  $W_t = 0$ , from which point it is constant. Our projections start from the the most recent NBS statistics and begin with  $rur_{past} = 0.055$  and  $hrur_{2011} = 0.019$ .  $rur_{past}$  is calculated from 2005 to 2011 and  $PU_{2011} = 0.51$ .



Sources: United Nations; authors' calculations



Sources: United Nations; authors' calculations

	Table Share	e 1: Urba	nisation Proje	ections for a regions – pe	<b>2030</b> er cent	
CAS	S CSMC	UN	Berkelmans and Wang	REICO	CCIEE	DRC
65	65	69	69	70	70	80
Sources: China Academy of Social Sciences (CASS); China Center for International Economic Exchanges (CCIEE) China Small Medium Cities (CSMC); Development Research Center of the State Council (DRC); REICO Studio (REICO); United Nations (UN); authors' calculations						

There are fundamental reasons for the relatively rapid increase in the urbanisation rate. The wage gap between rural and urban areas is large, which should attract workers to cities (Harris and Todaro 1970; Henderson 2009). Also, the Chinese rural population is relatively well educated given China's stage of development, which may increase their mobility (Henderson 2009). While the *hukou* system acts as a barrier to migrant flows, the system has evolved gradually over recent years and further reform bodes well for improving population mobility.

We calculate the urban population path using the projections for the urbanisation rate along with 'medium variant' population projections from the UN's World Population Prospects database (Figure 5).<sup>5</sup> Accordingly, we project the urban population will reach almost one billion by 2030 from its current level of 691 million, and then stabilise. Our projected rate of increase gradually recedes over the projection horizon: compared to the current 20 million annual increase in urban population, the rate of increase is projected to fall to 7½ million per year by 2030 and to just over 1 million per year by 2040.

<sup>5</sup> World Population Prospects can be found at http://esa.un.org/unpd/wpp/index.htm. This database provides data at 5-year intervals, and we generate annual data using a cubic spline interpolation.



Sources: CEIC; United Nations; authors' calculations

### 3.3 Floor Space per Capita

When considering Chinese urban per capita residential floor space, we use data from the NBS *China Statistical Yearbooks*. However, we believe the official figures overstate the actual urban floor space per capita as they are calculated using an understated population base. Instead of using actual urban population as the denominator, the official data appear to be calculated by dividing the total residential housing stock by the non-agricultural *hukou* population, which does not account for the migrants from rural areas who still hold an agricultural *hukou* (Beijing Municipal Bureau of Statistics 2006).<sup>6</sup> We correct for this by multiplying the original data by the ratio of the non-agricultural *hukou* population to actual urban population.<sup>7</sup> Floor space per capita data prior to 2002 are not published

<sup>6</sup> Also, the reported increments to per capita floor space in Table 10-36 of the 2011 *China Statistical Yearbook* are more closely aligned with the construction numbers in Table 10-35 divided by the *hukou* population rather than the actual population.

<sup>7</sup> All data are from the NBS. *Hukou* data are only available for 1990 and after 1997. We therefore omit data before 1990 and the urban *hukou* population is linearly interpolated between 1990 and 1997.

in the latest *Yearbook*, but these data are available in earlier *Yearbooks*. The data exhibit a large jump in 2002, which suggests that there is a break in the series. But because the pre-2002 data carry information, we do not discard them. Instead, we smooth the full dataset using a Hodrick-Prescott filter with a parameter of 6.25 to extract the trend, which delivers the historical path shown in Figure 6. The aim of extracting the trend is to obtain a realistic path that reflects the data, but smooths through any aberrant movements.



Sources: CEIC; authors' calculations

We base our projections of floor space per capita on estimated international relationships between income and residential floor space. While the regressions generally focus on total floor space per capita rather than urban floor space per capita, they are nonetheless informative; the regressions generally cover highly urbanised countries, so the overall relationship is a reasonable proxy for the urban relationship in the datasets. Like Isaac and van Vuuren (2009), we find the following equation generally fits the data better than a linear alternative.

Floor Space per Capita<sub>t</sub> = 
$$\alpha + \beta \ln(\text{Real Income per Capita}_t) + \varepsilon_t$$
 (3)

We estimate this equation on three datasets. First, we use Taiwanese regional panel data from Directorate-General of Budget, Accounting and Statistics (2011). The original income data are nominal and so we deflate income by the consumer price index to obtain real income.<sup>8</sup>

The second dataset consists of international panel data. The floor space data are sourced from International Energy Agency (2004) and GDP per capita data are sourced from the Penn World Tables, version 7.0.<sup>9</sup> These floor space data cover 13 industrialised countries from 1973 to 1998.<sup>10</sup> While a linear regression fits the IEA data better, we still use Equation 3 to be consistent with the models estimated using other data.

Finally, we also estimate Equation 3 on Chinese nationwide floor space data from 1990 to 2010. GDP per capita numbers are once again taken from the Penn World Tables.

The estimated value of the income coefficient,  $\beta$ , ranges from 6.6 to 25.7 (Table 2). The panel data give lower coefficients when controlling for fixed – regional or country effects – and year effects.<sup>11</sup> This might be because technology improvements – which would allow more floor space to be constructed for given inputs – are picked up by the income variable when year effects are omitted. Despite this, the Chinese coefficients, which are estimated without year effects, are lower than other estimates, especially in recent years. *Prima facie*, this could be due to the type of accommodation rural migrants inhabit and the increased share of floor space they occupy. Small dormitories for workers are a common image associated with those who move from the countryside. However, this issue

<sup>8</sup> The Taiwanese GDP deflator has been declining for a number of years, reflecting falling export prices. As exports are not purchased by households, using this deflator is arguably a misleading basis for our real income calculations.

<sup>9</sup> As mentioned in Isaac and van Vuuren (2009), International Energy Agency (2007) contains more recent data that 'due to changes in the methodology are not consistent with data from the earlier publication'. From the Penn World Tables, we use the 'rgdpl2' measure of PPPadjusted GDP per capita, which is the 'new, preferred growth rate series' (Heston, Summers and Aten 2011).

<sup>10</sup> The countries are Australia, Canada, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, West Germany, Italy, Japan, Norway, Sweden, the United Kingdom and the United States. Germany and West Germany have separate fixed effects.

<sup>11</sup> All our estimates of  $\beta$  are larger than the estimate of 6.3 from Isaac and van Vuuren (2009).

may not be a significant concern, as less than 25 per cent of migrants live on construction and manufacturing sites (National Population and Family Planning Commission of China 2011; NBS 2012). Alternatively, it may be that the supply of housing in China is not adjusting to income in the 'usual' way, given the rapid growth in income. If floor space per capita were to have increased according to the long-run estimated relationship, then residential construction as a share of GDP would be above its current high level. The lower income coefficient estimated may also reflect an increase in the cost of building materials, which may have held back the rate of construction during this period.

Tabl	e 2: Regressio	ons of Floo	or Space p	er Capita	on $\ln(y)^{(a)}$	)
Data	Taiwan	Taiwan	IEA	IEA	China	China
β	19.3	9.2	25.7	13.6	9.2	6.6
Fixed effects	Y	Y	Y	Y	na	na
Year effects	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	na	na
Data range	1998–2010	1998–2010	1973–1998	1973–1998	1990-2010	2003-2010
Within $R^2$	0.07	0.05	0.93	0.19	0.97	0.94
Note: (a) For Ta capita.	iwan y is our measu	re of real hous	ehold income,	for IEA and C	hinese data, y i	s real GDP pe

To be consistent with the Chinese historical experience, and also within the range found in other contexts, we choose a conservative value of 10 for China's long-run income coefficient. This choice suggests that a one per cent increase in real income, on average, would lead to a 0.1 square metre increase in urban floor space per capita. However, this value is larger than the coefficient estimated using more recent data, i.e. 6.6, so a projection of China's floor space per capita based on the value of 10 would induce a large immediate level shift in urban residential construction. To avoid this, we project floor space per capita in the following way. First, we assume floor space per capita increases in line with our long-run income coefficient of 10 by the end of the projection period.<sup>12</sup> Second, we interpolate all years from the present to the end of the projection period using a cubic spline, which ensures that there is no large change in the rate at which floor space per capita increases. This implies an income coefficient below 10 in the short-run that subsequently goes above 10 to allow catch-up to the estimated long-run level by the end of the projection period. Alternative assumptions for this coefficient are considered in the sensitivity analysis below.

<sup>12</sup> This projection is used for both 2039 and 2040. This is to ensure, within the spline framework, that the slope at the end of the projection is consistent with the slope of the long-run path.

To complete the projection of floor space per capita, we base our projection of per capita GDP growth on GDP projections from World Bank and Development Research Center (2012) and the UN population projections discussed in Section 3.2. This projection gives an annual GDP per capita growth rate that gradually falls from 9.1 per cent in 2011 to 3.6 per cent in 2040. This implies a level of PPP-adjusted GDP per capita of a touch over US\$40 000 at 2005 prices by 2040.<sup>13</sup> The resulting projection for floor space per capita increases from 22.6 square metres per capita in 2010 to almost 40 square metres per capita in 2040 (Figure 6).

### 3.4 Demolitions

Between 2008 and 2010, around 1.8 billion square metres of floor space was demolished to reduce the number of dilapidated buildings in China (State-Owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council 2011). These demolitions imply an annual demolition rate of at least 4½ per cent, based on our estimates of the stock of floor space.<sup>14</sup>

It is unlikely, however, that China will sustain such a high demolition rate, because the stock of dilapidated residential buildings will gradually decline. As these buildings are replaced with higher-quality construction, the average life-span of a building will increase. Also, the legal system has moved to enforce property rights for citizens, which will add cost to the expropriation process and reduce the rate of demolition. Hence, we assume the demolition rate will gradually fall to 3 per cent by 2020 and to 2 per cent by 2030 (Figure 7). The 2 per cent demolition rate is in line with the depreciation rate from the Chinese national accounts, which implies an average building life span of 50 years (Lardy 2012). The depreciation profile is smoothed using a cubic spline interpolation.

<sup>13</sup> The current level of GDP per capita, which is used as the base, is taken from the Penn World Tables. A cubic spline is used to extrapolate growth from 2030, the final projection year for World Bank and Development Research Center (2012), to 2040.

<sup>14</sup> These demolished buildings arose from relocation, so they were arguably predominately in urban areas, making way for improved facilities.



**Figure 7: Urban Residential Building Demolition Rate** 

Source: authors' calculations

#### 3.5 **Backcast Testing the Validity of Our Approach**

We can gauge the validity of our approach by comparing two series. The first is the estimated history of urban residential construction from Section 2. The second series is a backcast using the modelling approach described in Section 3.1 and applying it to actual data for each of the various components in Equations (1), (2) and (3).<sup>15</sup> Figure 8 shows that, despite the different methodologies and data sources, the paths are quite similar. Both series suggest that about 1.5 billion square metres of urban residential floor space was constructed in 2010 from a level of about 400 million square metres in 1991. Integrating over the 20 year period leads to approximately the same cumulative floor space construction. The alignment of these series supports our hypothesis about the reclassification of land from rural to urban discussed in Section 2, namely that rural reinforced concrete floor space should be treated as urban floor space. The two series do appear to have different cyclical properties, but there could be many reasons for this. For example, the stock of floor space per capita would depend upon the timing of

<sup>15</sup> Demolitions are assumed to start at 3 per cent of the housing stock in 1990 and are interpolated using a cubic spline.

land reclassification, which would affect our backcast series, but not our estimated series.



Sources: CEIC; National Bureau of Statistics of China; authors' calculations

### 4. **Projections**

Turning to the future, our methods suggest that the level of urban residential construction is projected to peak in 2017 at a level almost 12 per cent higher than 2011 levels (Figure 9).<sup>16</sup> This marks a moderation of the strong growth we have seen over the past few years. Nonetheless, the outlook is positive. Chinese urban residential construction is expected to stabilise at a high level, and to remain above current levels for almost 20 years. Further out, urban residential construction is projected to taper off slowly.

An alternative projection is offered in Woetzel *et al* (2009), where much stronger growth is forecast. We project lower growth rates partly due to our higher starting point, arising from our conjectures in Section 2. Nonetheless, our projected volumes remain above those in Woetzel *et al* because we project faster growth

<sup>16</sup> Even though the line in Figure 9 is solid up to 2011, the 2011 figure is, in effect, a projection because the data are not yet available to allow us to derive our estimated measure.



Sources: CEIC; authors' calculations

in floor space per capita. Hu *et al* (2010) also provide projections; our projections are higher than theirs, which appears to be due in part to their assumption of lower rates of demolition.

We now turn to consider the implications of our projections of urban residential construction for steel demand and the structure of the Chinese economy.

### 4.1 Steel

Steel intensity is defined as the weight of steel used per square metre of floor space constructed. In this paper, we do not account for steel found in internal furnishing and appliances, such as refrigerators. Average steel intensity in construction depends upon a range of factors. For example, while most modern apartments are constructed with reinforced concrete, steel intensity can vary based on the building's design and legislation requires a higher steel content for buildings in earthquake-prone regions. A key consideration is that steel input varies with the height of the building. Estimates by Walsh (2011) suggest low-rise apartment construction requires, on average, around 40–50 kg of steel per square metre of floor space, whereas around 60–100 kg of steel per square metre is required for

a 30-storey building. Basements also increase a building's average steel intensity substantially.

We begin by assuming that the average steel intensity for newly constructed apartments in China was 60 kg per square metre in 2010. This is in line with Woetzel *et al* (2009, p 373) and Walsh (2011). Given that approximately 1.54 billion square metres of residential floor space was constructed with reinforced concrete in 2010, this implies steel use of about 93 million tonnes – about 14 per cent of China's 2010 crude steel production (Figure 10). Some estimates suggest that total building construction – i.e. residential and non-residential – accounts for about 30 per cent of steel use (KPMG China 2011; Wu 2009). This appears to be consistent with Chinese residential building accounting for about 60 per cent of construction as commercial building should be more steel intensive than residential construction.



Figure 10: Projection of Steel Use from Urban Residential Construction

We also assume that average steel intensity for newly constructed apartment buildings will increase linearly by 1 kg per square metre per year to reflect improved quality and higher buildings.<sup>17</sup> Moreover, the projected increase in

Sources: CEIC; authors' calculations

<sup>17</sup> This is consistent with the rate of increase in Hu et al (2010).

incomes is likely to see higher car ownership and demand for underground car parking, which suggests that this is a conservative assumption. If this rate of increase is assumed over the course of the past few years, 19 per cent of steel production for 2004 would have been used in residential construction, which is identical to the share estimated by Hu *et al* (2010).

Under these assumptions, and our earlier projections for residential construction, steel use in residential construction is likely to continue to grow rapidly for a few more years. Beyond the middle of this decade, growth is projected to moderate, with steel use reaching its peak in 2023, at a level that is 30 per cent higher than consumption in 2011.

## **4.2** Implications for the Structure of the Economy

Since 2004 residential construction has increased rapidly as a share of GDP (Figure 11).<sup>18</sup> We estimate the current share to be around 9 per cent of GDP, which is high by international standards. Australia's share is 5 per cent and, at the peak of the building boom around 2005, the share in the United States reached over 6 per cent.<sup>19</sup>

From 2004 to 2011, China's real GDP more than doubled. Annual floor space completed, which includes both rural and urban buildings, increased by only 41 per cent. Our measure of urban construction increased by 57 per cent. If relative prices remained constant, then these growth rates imply that dwelling investment would have accounted for a declining share of nominal GDP. However, relative price changes, perhaps indicative of quality improvements or changes in the price

<sup>18</sup> To calculate this share, we first deduct land investment (CEIC DX Identifier: CRKARPN) from real estate investment (CEIC DX Identifier: CECA), and then multiply this value by the share of residential building (CEIC DX Identifier: CECAA) in real estate investment, to get an approximate series for residential building investment less land. Because fixed asset investment (FAI) data better represent what is calculated in the national accounts, we multiply our approximate series by the ratio of residential building FAI (CEIC DX Identifier: COBDJW) to residential building investment. We then divide the resultant series by nominal GDP to get the share in Figure 11.

<sup>19</sup> Australian figures are for total dwelling investment, which include alterations and additions: Australian Bureau of Statistics Cat No 5204.0, Table 2. Figures for the United States are from the Bureau of Economic Activity.



of materials, are likely to have been important.<sup>20</sup> Steel intensity is arguably a good proxy for quality improvements, in which case overall growth in steel use reflects growth in real construction. The estimated steel use in residential construction grew by over 70 per cent from 2004 to 2011. While this increase is not enough to account for the rising share of GDP if all other relative prices remained constant, it is an improvement upon the raw floor space numbers. On the basis that other factors that may have previously affected the share – for example, increasing materials prices – are not sustained, but that quality improvements continue, the share of residential construction will begin to fall over the projection horizon, but not rapidly (Figure 11). We project residential construction's share to decline to 6 per cent in 2020, and by 2040 it will be down to around 2 per cent of GDP.

Sources: CEIC; authors' calculations

<sup>20</sup> Another potential explanation is that there has been a bulge of construction that is yet to be completed, which would affect GDP calculations but would not yet show up in completion numbers. However, this seems unlikely to be the full explanation given that it typically takes one to two years for a large building to be built in the United States, and possibly less time in China (US Census Bureau 2012).

# 5. Sensitivity Analysis

This section evaluates the sensitivity of the baseline projection for urban residential construction to different assumptions. We evaluate these assumptions in isolation, but it is certainly possible that they could be correlated. For example, a more rapid increase in the urbanisation rate than projected may be accompanied by higher than projected GDP growth. The implications of these different assumptions for steel use are presented in Appendix B.

### 5.1 Urbanisation Assumptions

While our urbanisation projections are close to the current UN projections, they differ substantially to the projections the UN offered in 2009 (Figure 12). This difference primarily reflects data updates over the past two years, which have shown an unexpectedly strong increase in the urbanisation rate. Under the UN methodology this recent rapid growth has a persistent effect, so that the gap between the two projections reaches  $7\frac{1}{2}$  percentage points by 2025. There is some chance that the recent data are anomalous, and that the UN's 2009 extended projections better capture the prospects for urbanisation. Therefore, we consider an alternative where the urbanisation rate approaches the UN's 2009 numbers by 2040.<sup>21</sup> Under this alternative path, floor space construction does not exhibit any appreciable growth from here on in and it begins to fall in 2014 (Figure 13). The downward trajectory arises because the growth of the urban population slows rapidly.

<sup>21</sup> To do this, we assume that the rapid growth over the past 2 years only influences the projection for the next 10 years rather than the next 25 as specified in footnote 4, i.e.  $W_t$  declines by 0.1 each year rather than by 0.04.



Figure 13: Urban Residential Construction under Alternative Urbanisation



Sources: CEIC; authors' calculations

### 5.2 Floor Space per Capita Assumptions

The estimates of the relationship between floor space per capita and income are imprecise. We consider a higher and lower alternative. On the upside we impose a coefficient of 15 on the log of GDP per capita in its long-run relationship with floor space per capita, as opposed to 10 in the baseline. This is at the lower end of the coefficients found from IEA data, but at the upper end of those found from the Taiwanese data (Table 2). We use a coefficient of 7.5 as a downside alternative, which is closer to the relationship found in China after 2003.

The resulting paths tell quite different stories (Figure 14). The upside projection sees the growth of the past decade taper off quite slowly, with construction peaking in 2023, 30 per cent above the recent levels. Alternatively, if floor space is less responsive to income, construction remains roughly flat for the next five years before declining.



Figure 14: Urban Residential Construction under Alternative Floor Space Assumptions

Sources: CEIC; authors' calculations

### **5.3 GDP Growth Assumptions**

Given uncertainty about China's trend rate of growth, we consider two possibilities: a high-growth and a low-growth alternative.

- First we assume that the Chinese GDP per capita grows at 8 per cent per annum for the next 20 years, rather than around 6 per cent in the baseline. Lin (2011) suggests that China has the potential to do so considering China's stage of development relative to that of the United States, and the growth performance of Japan, Taiwan and Korea when they were at a similar stage of development. In this case we project that China's growth rate will follow the same deceleration after 2032 as the growth rate from World Bank and Development Research Center (World Bank and Development Research Center of the State Council, the People's Republic of China) (2012). Accordingly, China's PPP-adjusted GDP per capita reaches almost US\$80 000 by 2040 (at 2005 prices), compared to around US\$40 000 in the baseline projection.
- In the low-growth alternative we assume that GDP per capita growth is 2.7 percentage points lower than the baseline growth rate. This difference is equivalent to one standard deviation of the distribution of growth rates experienced in China between 2000 and 2009.<sup>22</sup> In this case, China's PPP-adjusted GDP per capita reaches US\$20 000 by 2040 (at 2005 prices).

Under the high-growth assumption, floor space construction peaks in 2023, 25 per cent above recent levels, and remains above current levels for all but the last couple of years of the projection period (Figure 15). Under the low-growth assumption, construction is effectively at its peak now and will be almost 40 per cent below the baseline by the end of the projection period.

<sup>22</sup> This standard deviation is calculated from growth rates from the Penn World Tables.



Figure 15: Urban Residential Construction under Alternative GDP Assumptions

Sources: CEIC; authors' calculations

# 6. Conclusion

The medium- to long-term outlook for residential construction remains relatively strong in China. While growth in urban residential construction is expected to slow, the level of construction is nevertheless expected to remain high for a prolonged period of time. The prospects for steel used in residential construction are stronger still. We project that steel use in residential construction will grow for more than 10 years, reflecting improvements in building quality.

The prospective demand for primary resources associated with steel production is somewhat complicated by the matter of recycled materials. As China's steel structures age, they will be demolished, and the resultant scrap can be used as a substitute for newly smelted steel. In the past, there has been limited scope for steel recycling, as demolished buildings contained little steel. In the future, the availability of scrap will work to offset the demand for iron ore somewhat.

While residential construction accounts for around 9 per cent of GDP and 14 per cent of steel use, it has broader implications for steel demand. Appliances

are required to fill the new homes. Commercial buildings and infrastructure are needed to service the new urbanites. These products and amenities will be positively correlated with residential construction, and so our projections for residential construction may be useful for analyses of these other activities. **Appendix A: Map of Hailing County, Taizhou Prefecture, Jiangsu Province** 



Notes: Yellow areas approximately correspond to urban areas. Red areas approximately correspond to rural areas. We were not able to classify unrendered areas. Sources: Google Maps; National Bureau of Statistics of China; authors' calculations

# **Appendix B: Steel Use under Alternative Assumptions**



Figure B1: Steel Use under United Nations' 2009 Urbanisation Assumptions

Sources: CEIC; United Nations, authors' calculations

Figure B2: Steel Use under Alternative Floor Space per Capita Assumptions



Sources: CEIC; authors' calculations



Figure B3: Steel Use under Alternative Growth Assumptions

Sources: CEIC; authors' calculations

# References

Au C-C and JV Henderson (2006), 'Are Chinese Cities too Small?', *The Review* of Economic Studies, 73(3), pp 549–576.

Beijing Municipal Bureau of Statistics (2006), '北京局队就2005 年本市城镇居民人均住房面积有关情况做出说明 (An Explanation of the 2005 Average Urban Residential Living Area in Beijing by the Beijing Municipal Bureau of Statistics)', press release, 9 July. Available at <a href="http://www.bjstats.gov.cn/tjys/sjzd/200607/t20060710\_45447.htm">http://www.bjstats.gov.cn/tjys/sjzd/200607/t20060710\_45447.htm</a>.

**Directorate-General of Budget, Accounting and Statistics (2011),** 'Report on the Survey of Family Income and Expenditure, 2010', Taiwan.

**Fujita M, T Mori, JV Henderson and Y Kanemoto (2004),** 'Spatial Distribution of Economic Activities in Japan and China', in JV Henderson and JF Thisse (eds), *Handbook of Regional and Urban Economics: Volume 4 Cities and Geography*, Handbooks in Economics, Volume 7, Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 2911–2977.

**Harris JR and MP Todaro (1970),** 'Migration, Unemployment and Development: A Two-Sector Analysis', *The American Economic Review*, 60(1), pp 126–142.

Henderson JV (2009), 'Urbanization in China: Policy Issues and Options', Report for the China Economic Research and Advisory Programme. Available at <a href="http://www.econ.brown.edu/faculty/henderson/Final%20Report%20format1109">http://www.econ.brown.edu/faculty/henderson/Final%20Report%20format1109</a> summary.doc>.

R B Aten (2011), 'Description Heston Α, Summers and of **PWT** 7.0'. University Pennsylvania Available of mimeo. at <pwt.econ.upenn.edu/Downloads/pwt70/PWT%207%20Web2011a.doc>.

Hu M, S Pauliuk, T Wang, G Huppes, E van der Voet and DB Müller (2010), 'Iron and Steel in Chinese Residential Buildings: A Dynamic Analysis', *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 54(9), pp 591–600.

**International Energy Agency (2004),** *Oil Crises and Climate Challenges: 30 Years of Energy Use in IEA Countries*, OECD Publishing, Paris. **International Energy Agency (2007),** *Energy Use in the New Millennium: Trends in IEA Countries*, OECD Publishing, Paris.

**Isaac M and DP van Vuuren (2009),** 'Modeling Global Residential Sector Energy Demand for Heating and Air Conditioning in the Context of Climate Change', *Energy Policy*, 37(2), pp 507–521.

**KPMG China (2011),** 'China's 12th Five-Year Plan: Iron and Steel', China's 12th Five-Year Plan (2011–2015) – KPMG Insight Series. Available at <a href="http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/articlespublications/pages/china-12th-five-year-plan-iron-steel-201105.aspx>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/articlespublications/pages/china-12th-five-year-plan-iron-steel-201105.aspx>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/articlespublications/pages/china-12th-five-year-plan-iron-steel-201105.aspx>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/articlespublications/pages/china-12th-five-year-plan-iron-steel-201105.aspx>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/articlespublications/pages/china-12th-five-year-plan-iron-steel-201105.aspx>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/articlespublications/pages/china-12th-five-year-plan-iron-steel-201105.aspx>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/articlespublications/pages/china-12th-five-year-plan-iron-steel-201105.aspx>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/articlespublications/pages/china-12th-five-year-plan-iron-steel-201105.aspx>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/articlespublications/pages/china-12th-five-year-plan-iron-steel-201105.aspx>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/articlespublications/pages/china-12th-five-year-plan-iron-steel-201105.aspx">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/aspx</a>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/aspx</a>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/aspx</a>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/aspx</a>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/aspx</a>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/aspx</a>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/aspx</a>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/aspx</a>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/aspx</a>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/aspx</a>">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/aspx</a>"">http://www.kpmg.com/cn/en/issuesandinsights/aspx</a>"""

Lardy NR (2012), Sustaining China's Economic Growth After the Global Financial Crisis, Peterson Institute for International Economics, Washington DC.

Lin JY (2011), *Demystifying the Chinese Economy*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

National Population and Family Planning Commission of China (2011), 中国 流动人口发展报告2011 (Report on China's Migrant Population Development 2011), China Population Publishing House, Beijing.

NBS (National Bureau of Statistics of China) (2012), '2011 年我国农民工调查监测报告 (2011 China Migrant Workers Report)', statistic and analysis release. Available at <a href="http://www.stats.gov.cn/tjfx/fxbg/t20120427\_402801903.htm">http://www.stats.gov.cn/tjfx/fxbg/t20120427\_402801903.htm</a>>.

**Spence M, PC Annez and RM Buckley (eds) (2008),** *Urbanization and Growth,* World Bank, Washington DC.

State-Owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council (2011), '中国资源综合利用协会申请设立建筑垃圾资源化再利用工作委员会 (China Association of Resource Comprehensive Utilisation Propose to Set Up a Working Committee on the Recycling of Construction Waste)', press release, 23 March. Available at <a href="http://www.sasac.gov.cn/n1180/n1566/n259760/n1902523/n1904676/13344619.html">http://www.sasac.gov.cn/n1180/n1566/n259760/n1902523/n1904676/13344619.html</a>.

United Nations (2012), World Urbanization Prospects, The 2011 Revision: Methodology', Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, United Nations Publications, New York. **US Census Bureau (2012),** 'Average Length of Time from Start to Completion of New Privately Owned Residential Buildings', viewed 15 August 2012. Available at <a href="http://www.census.gov/construction/nrc/pdf/avg\_starttocomp.pdf">http://www.census.gov/construction/nrc/pdf/avg\_starttocomp.pdf</a>>.

Walsh S (2011), 'New Opportunities for Industry Growth', Presentation to Metal Bulletin Conference 'China Iron Ore 2011', Beijing, 23–24 March. Available at <a href="http://www.riotinto.com/documents/110324\_New\_opportunities\_for\_industry\_growth\_Sam\_Walsh.pdf">http://www.riotinto.com/documents/110324\_New\_opportunities\_for\_industry\_growth\_Sam\_Walsh.pdf</a>>.

Woeztel, J, L Mendonca, J Devan, Hu, S Negri, Y L A Li. Jordan, Х Maasry, G Tsen and F Yu (2009),'Preparing for China's Urban Billion', report. Available at <http://www.mckinsey.com/Insights/MGI/Research/Urbanization/Preparing\_for\_ urban\_billion\_in\_China>.

World Bank and Development Research Center (World Bank and Development Research Center of the State Council, the People's Republic of China) (2012), *China 2030: Building a Modern, Harmonious, and Creative High-Income Society*, World Bank, Washington DC. Available at <http://www.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2012/02/28/000356161\_20120228001303/Rendered/PDF/671790WP0P127500 China020300complete.pdf>.

Wu J (2009), 'The Recent Developments of the Steel Industry in China', Document No DSTI/SU/SC(2009)15 presented to the OECD Steel Committee Meeting, Paris, 8–9 June.

### RESEARCH DISCUSSION PAPERS

These papers can be downloaded from the Bank's website or a hard copy may be obtained by writing to:

F F C	Printing Administrator nformation Department Reserve Bank of Australia GPO Box 3947 GYDNEY NSW 2001	
Enquiries		
F F E	Phone: +61 2 9551 9830 Facsimile: +61 2 9551 8033 Email: rbainfo@rba.gov.au Vebsite: http://www.rba.gov.au	
2010-08	Sources of Chinese Demand for Resource Commodities	Ivan Roberts Anthony Rush
2011-01	Estimating Inflation Expectations with a Limited Number of Inflation-indexed Bonds	Richard Finlay Sebastian Wende
2011-02	Long-term Interest Rates, Risk Premia and Unconventional Monetary Policy	Callum Jones Mariano Kulish
2011-03	Urban Structure and Housing Prices: Some Evidence from Australian Cities	Mariano Kulish Anthony Richards Christian Gillitzer
2011-04	Assessing Some Models of the Impact of Financial Stress upon Business Cycles	Adrian Pagan Tim Robinson
2011-05	Terms of Trade Shocks: What are They and What Do They Do?	Jarkko Jääskelä Penelope Smith
2011-06	Does Equity Mispricing Influence Household and Firm Decisions?	James Hansen
2011-07	Australia's Prosperous 2000s: Housing and the Mining Boom	Jonathan Kearns Philip Lowe
2011-08	The Mining Industry: From Bust to Boom	Ellis Connolly David Orsmond
2012-01	Co-movement in Inflation	Hugo Gerard
2012-02	The Role of Credit Supply in the Australian Economy	David Jacobs Vanessa Rayner
2012-03	ATM Fees, Pricing and Consumer Behaviour: An Analysis of ATM Network Reform in Australia	Clare Noone

